I. INTRODUCTION 

In February 2010, the KentSchool District notified teacher 

James McLain that his teaching contract would not be renewed for 

the following school year. McLain's original attorney filed a letter to 

appeal the district's determination, but in June 2010 withdrew from 

representation before a hearing officer was selected. A second 

attorney later filed a public records request on McLain's behalf, but 

confirmed that she did not represent McLain on his employment 

appeal. Despite repeated letters to McLain from the district that 

either he or his representative needed to contact the district to 

select a hearing officer, no such contact occurred within the fifteen 

months following his attorney's withdrawal. In November 2011-

nearly two years after he was notified that his teaching contract 

would not be renewed-a third attorney on McLain's behalf 

contacted the district and insisted that McLain still had a right to 

appeal his 2010 nonrenewal pursuant to the statutory process of 

chapter 28A.405 RCW. The district disagreed, arguing that McLain 

waived the opportunity to appeal his nonrenewal by failing to 

pursue the appeal in a timely manner. McLain petitioned the King 
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County Superior Court for the appointment of a hearing office and 

the petition was granted without oral argument or legal conclusions 

regarding the district's objections. The district petitioned this court 

for review of the superior court's appointment of a hearing officer. 

Review was granted to decide whether the district may assert 

waiver or estoppel when a teacher fails to take necessary steps to 

pursue a hearing for more than a year, and whether a hearing 

officer-whose adverse decision cannot be appealed by a school 

district-should be the forum for deciding whether waiver has 

occurred. 
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II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. Assignments of Error 

1. The superior court erred in appointing an administrative 

hearing officer and ordering a teacher and school district to 

participate in an appeal hearing pursuant to chapter 28AA05 

when the teacher clearly waived, and should have been 

estopped from asserting, his right to such a hearing by failing 

to pursue the appeal of his contract nonrenewal for more 

than a year. 

2. The superior court erred by misapplying the procedure of 

RCW 28A.405.31 0 (4) and thereby compelling an 

administrative hearing, despite the fact that the Respondent 

had clearly waived the opportunity for such a hearing by 

failing to pursue this statutory opportunity for more than a 

year. 

3. The superior court erred by deferring the issue of waiver and 

estoppel to an administrative hearing officer, from whose 

adverse ruling the school district has no legal recourse. 
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8. Issues Pertaining To Assignments Of Error 

1. Under the provisions for public school teachers in chapter 

28A.405 RCW, did the Respondent impliedly waive, or 

should he be estopped from asserting, his opportunity for a 

hearing to appeal the nonrenewal of his teaching contract 

when he abandoned the appeal process and failed to take 

necessary steps to pursue his appeal for more than a year? 

2. Did the superior court err in granting the teacher's petition for 

the appointment of a hearing officer under RCW 

28AA05.310 (4), when the teacher had abandoned the 

appeal process for more than a year following the 2010 

nonrenewal of his teaching contract and the district objected 

that such a hearing was not available? 

3. Should the superior court-and not a hearing officer, from 

whom a school district is powerless to appeal an adverse 

ruling-be the proper forum for deciding issues of waiver 

and/or estoppel when a teacher has failed to pursue his 

statutory non renewal appeal for an unreasonable period of 

time? 
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III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In a letter dated February 23, 2010, former teacher James 

McLain was notified by the superintendent of the Kent School 

District that probable cause existed to nonrenew his teaching 

contract for the ensuing school year. McLain's failure to 

demonstrate necessary growth during a plan of improvement 

constituted the grounds for a finding of probable cause, per RCW 

28A.405.100 (4) (a). CP 27. 

Attorney Michael Gawley of the Washington Education 

Association sent a letter as McLain's representative notifying the 

district that McLain was appealing the superintendent's 

determination pursuant to the statutory process in chapter 28A.405 

RCW. CP 28. On April 6, 2010, the district sent Mr. Gawley 340 

documents regarding McLain's plan of improvement and 

probationary period. CP 24. 

In June 2010, Mr. Gawley notified the district that he would no 

longer be representing McLain. CP 24. Mr. Gawley sent written 

confirmation of his withdrawal on July 13, 2010. CP 29. In a letter 

written July 13, the District reminded McLain that his teaching 

contract with the district would end on August 31 and, following the 

withdrawal of Mr. Gawley, either another designee or McLain 
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himself would need to contact the district to continue the appeal 

process. The District provided McLain another ten days to reply. 

CP30. 

In a letter dated July 27, 2010, McLain replied that he intended 

to continue his appeal and he claimed that he had retained an 

attorney. However, McLain failed to identify his attorney. CP 31 . 

The district wrote McLain again on August 3, asking for his 

attorney's name and informing McLain that communications from 

district's counsel should go through his attorney. CP 32. 

On August 14, 2010, the District received a Public Records Act 

request from attorney Mary Ruth Mann on McLain's behalf, 

requesting many of the same records that had previously been 

given to Mr. Gawley. CP 33-34. In response to her request, the 

district wrote Ms. Mann August 17 to clarify whether she was 

representing McLain in the nonrenewal hearing or simply making a 

records request on his behalf. CP 35. On August 19, 2010, Ms. 

Mann's associate (attorney Mark Rose) sent a letter via email 

confirming that although the firm initiated a records request on Mr. 

McLain's behalf, the attorneys were not representing him regarding 

his employment appeal. CP 36. 
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On August 19, 2010, the district wrote yet another letter to 

McLain regarding Ms. Mann's assertion that she was not 

representing him for the hearing process. The letter notified 

McLain that if he chose to go forward with the statutory hearing, it 

was his responsibility to contact the district's Legal Services office 

within three business days of receipt to initiate the process (Le., by 

mutually selecting a hearing officer). CP 37. McLain's teaching 

contract with the district expired on August 31, 2010. 

The district heard nothing further from McLain for fifteen 

months. He made no attempt to contact or work for the district in 

September 2010. He did not contact the district at any point during 

the 2010-2011 school year regarding either his contract or his 

teaching obligation. Likewise, McLain made no attempt to contact 

or work for the Kent School District in August or September 2011 at 

the beginning of the 2011-2012 school year. 

In November 2011 attorney Douglas Wartelle contacted the 

district on behalf of McLain. Mr. Wartelle sought to reinitiate the 

appeal process for McLain by selecting a hearing officer with the 

district. By this time, however, McLain had not signed a contract 

with the district for two consecutive school years following the 

nonrenewal of his contract. CP 25. Counsel for the district spoke 
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with Mr. Wartelle and also explained in a follow-up letter that since 

McLain neglected to follow through with his employment appeal 

request in 2010, the district determined that he had abandoned this 

process during the intervening fifteen months. The district 

determined that in doing so, McLain waived the opportunity for such 

an appeal. CP 25-26. 

On January 12, 2012, McLain filed a petition and supporting 

declaration for the appointment of a hearing officer pursuant to 

RCW 28A.405.31 0 (4) with the presiding judge of the King County 

Superior Court. CP 1-13. This petition and supporting declaration, 

however, made no mention of the exchange of correspondence 

between the district and McLain throughout the summer of 2010, 

nor did the petition notify the presiding judge that fifteen months 

had elapsed between the district's last contact with McLain in 2010 

and Mr. Wartelle's contact in November 2011 . The petition was 

scheduled for a ruling without the opportunity for oral argument on 

February 6, 2012. CP 14. 

On January 30, 2012, the District filed a notice to dismiss the 

petition or, in the alternative, that the matter be assigned to a judge 

for oral argument and briefing regarding whether McLain had 

waived his right to a hearing. CP 17-38. 
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On February 2, 2012, McLain filed a reply in which he claimed, 

in part, that the district had a statutory obligation to complete the 

hearing process unilaterally regardless of whether he himself 

participated. Failing to do so, argued McLain, meant that the 

superintendent's determination of probable cause was never "final" 

and his demand for an employment hearing pursuant to RCW 

28A.405.310 could be renewed at any time. CP 39-47. 

On February 16, 2012, the Honorable Richard McDermott, 

presiding judge of the King County Superior Court, issued a one-

page order appointing a hearing officer and directing both parties to 

contact the hearing officer. CP 51. 

The district filed a notice for discretionary review on February 

28, 2012. CP 48-50. Following briefing and argument, 

Commissioner Mary Neel of this court granted discretionary review 

of this matter with the following observation: 

The District's motion for discretionary review raises an important 
procedural issue that appears to be one of first impression, that 
is, whether a District may assert waiver or estoppel when a 
teacher initially notifies the District of his intent to appeal, and 
then fails to take steps to pursue a hearing for more than a year. 
The issue has significant ramifications beyond this case. Also 
lurking in the briefing is the issue of whether it is for the hearing 
officer to decide any issues of waiver/estoppel. Most important, 
it is undisputed that under Federal Way School District v. 
Vinson, 172 Wn.2d 756, 765-67, 261 P.2d 145 (2011), while 
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McLain may seek judicial review of an adverse decision by the 
hearing officer, the District may not do so. Thus, without review 
now, it is unlikely that the issues raised by the District will ever 
be subject to judicial review. 

Court of Appeals, No. 68373-0-1 (Commissioner's Ruling June 4, 

2012). 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Respondent McLain clearly waived-and should be 
equitably estopped from asserting-his statutory 
opportunity to appeal a nonrenewal of his teaching 
contract pursuant to RCW 28A.405.31 0 when he 
abandoned the process prior to selecting a hearing 
officer and failed to contact the district to pursue his 
appeal for more than a year. 

As a public school teacher in the State of Washington, 

James McLain had the opportunity to appeal pursuant to chapter 

28A.405 RCW his school district superintendent's determination 

that his teaching contract should not be renewed. Under the plain 

language of this statutory provision, McLain had not only an 

obligation to request an appeal hearing in the first place, but the 

obligation to actively and persistently participate in the process as 

well. In fact, the provisions of RCW 28A.405.310 (4) require that 

the parties begin the hearing officer selection process within fifteen 

days following the receipt of the request for a hearing. When he 
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abandoned the process before a hearing officer was selected by 

the parties and did not contact the school district for fifteen months, 

McLain waived this opportunity for a hearing. The superior court 

erred when it appointed a hearing officer and compelled the parties 

to engage in an appeal hearing nearly two years after McLain was 

first notified that his teaching contract would not be renewed. The 

court's order should be vacated and this matter should be 

dismissed under the doctrines of waiver and estoppel. 

Public school teachers in the state of Washington are 

annually employed by a one-year, written contract. RCW 

28A.405.210. While a teaching contract is limited to a single year, 

each teacher has a statutory right to the annual renewal of this 

employment relationship1 (sometimes referred to as a "continuing 

contract" right). See Peters v. South Kitsap School District No. 402, 

8 Wn. App. 809, 813, 509 P.2d 67 (1973) ("[T]he district may refuse 

to renew a contract for an ensuing year only for sufficient probable 

cause."). 

RCW 28A.405.21 0 codifies the requirement that probable 

cause must exist in order for a district to "nonrenew" the 

I Teachers in the first few years of teaching are called "provisional employees." See 
RCW 28A.405.220. The relaxed rules for nonrenewal of provisional employees are not 
applicable to McLain's case because of his years of teaching experience and will not be 
discussed here. 
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employment contract of a teacher. This provision also requires that 

if a district determines that such probable cause for nonrenewal 

exists, the district is required to provide the employee timely notice 

by May 15.2 The notice must specify the cause or causes for 

nonrenewal of the employee's contract as determined by the 

district's superintendent. lQ. Lack of necessary improvement during 

a probationary period for a teacher placed on a program for 

improvemene constitutes grounds for a finding of probable cause 

for nonrenewal under 28A.405.21 o. RCW 28A.405.1 00 (4) (a). 

Any teacher who is notified of the superintendent's 

determination that his contract will not be renewed for the ensuing 

school year is granted the opportunity for a hearing if the employee 

files a request for such a hearing within ten days of receiving the 

superintendent's notice. RCW 28A.405.21 O. An appeal hearing for 

a non renewed teacher-like a hearing for a teacher who is 

discharged4-is conducted according to the provisions of RCW 

28A.405.310 to determine whether the cause identified by the 

superintendent was, in fact, sufficient. 

2 If the legislature has not passed an omnibus appropriations act by May 15, notice is not 
required until June 15. Id. 
3 Pursuant to the teacher evaluation procedures of RCW 28AA05.100. 
4 RCW 28AA05.300 is the provision that regulates the discharge of a teacher for cause. 
RCW 28AA05.21 0 regulates the nonrenewal of a teacher's employment contract for the 
ensuing school year. 
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RCW 28AA05.310 (4) explains how the hearing process is 

initiated and that the district bears responsibility for associated 

costs and fees: 

In the event that an employee requests a hearing pursuant 
to RCW 28AA05.300 or RCW 28A.405.21 0, a hearing officer 
shall be appointed in the following manner: Within fifteen 
days following the receipt of any such request the board of 
directors of the district or its designee and the employee or 
employee's designee shall each appoint one nominee. The 
two nominees shall jointly appoint a hearing officer who shall 
be a member in good standing of the Washington state bar 
association or a person adhering to the arbitration standards 
established by the public employment relations commission 
and listed on its current roster of arbitrators. Should said 
nominees fail to agree as to who should be appointed as the 
hearing officer, either the board of directors or the employee, 
upon appropriate notice to the other party, may apply to the 
presiding judge of the superior court for the county in which 
the district is located for the appointment of such hearing 
officer, whereupon such presiding judge shall have the duty 
to appoint a hearing officer who shall, in the judgment of 
such presiding judge, be qualified to fairly and impartially 
discharge his or her duties .... The district shall pay all fees 
and expenses of any hearing officer selected pursuant to this 
subsection. 

A teacher, however, can be deemed to have waived his or 

her statutory opportunity to challenge a nonrenewal determination. 

See Lande v. South Kitsap School District No. 402, 2 Wn. App. 

468,469 P.2d 982 (1970) (right to challenge a variation in her new 

teaching contract waived by teacher's decision to negotiate with the 

school district and sign a new contract for the ensuing school year). 
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Under Washington law, the question of whether or not there has 

been a 'waiver" is usually for a trier of facts. Lande, supra, 2 Wn. 

App. at 473. 

1. Respondent McLain waived his opportunity for an appeal 
to challenge the nonrenewal of his teaching contract. 

The rule on waiver was announced in Bowman v. Webster, 

44 Wn.2d 667, 669, 269 P.2d 960 (1954): 

A waiver is the intentional and voluntary relinquishment of a 
known right, or such conduct as warrants an inference of the 
relinquishment of such right. It may result from an express 
agreement or be inferred from the circumstances indicating 
an intent to waive . It is a voluntary act which implies a 
choice, by the party, to dispense with something of value or 
to forego some advantage. The right, advantage, or benefit 
must exist at the time of the alleged waiver. The one against 
whom waiver is claimed must have actual or constructive 
knowledge of the existence of the right. He must intend to 
relinquish such right, advantage, or benefit; and his actions 
must be inconsistent with any other intention than to waiver 
them. 

(emphasis added). Bowman also goes on to explain when an 

implied waiver may be recognized : 

An implied waiver may arise where one party has pursued 
such a course of conduct as to evidence an intention to 
waive a right, or where his conduct is inconsistent with any 
other intention than to waive it. An estoppel is a preclusion 
by act or conduct from asserting a right which might 
otherwise have existed, to the detriment and prejudice of 
another who, in reliance on such act or conduct, has acted 
upon it. A waiver is unilateral and arises by the intentional 
relinquishment of a right, or by a neglect to insist upon it, 
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while an estoppel presupposed some conduct or dealing 
with another by which the other is induced to act, or to 
forbear to act. 

Bowman, 44 Wn.2d at 670 (quoting Kessinger v. Anderson, 31 

Wn.2d 157, 168, 196 P.2d 289 (1948)) (emphasis added). Waiver 

is also an equitable principle that defeats someone's legal rights 

where the facts support an argument that a party relinquished its 

rights by delaying in asserting or failing to assert an otherwise 

available adequate remedy. Albice v. Premier Mortgage Services 

of Washington, Inc., 174 Wn.2d 560, 569,276 P.3d 1277 (2012). 

There is no requirement of showing prejudice to another before a 

party may be found to have waived a known right. Lake 

Washington School District No. 414 v. Mobile Modules Northwest. 

Inc., 28 Wn. App. 59, 61-62, 621 P.2d 791 (1980). 

In the present case, McLain's conduct clearly evidenced a 

waiver of the opportunity for an appeal hearing through his delay 

and failure to assert his remedy. McLain stopped communicating 

with the district prior to selecting a hearing officer and abandoned 

the process for more than a year. The statutory timeline for 

selecting a hearing officer is fifteen days. See RCW 28A.405.31 0 

(4). 
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There is no question that McLain was aware of his statutory 

right to challenge his nonrenewal. McLain knew that he was to be 

nonrenewed for the ensuing school year and he knew that his 

teaching contract would expire August 31,2010. Yet despite the 

district's repeated letters to McLain reminding him of the need to 

initiate the process that he had requested, McLain failed to do so. 

McLain did not contact the school district at the beginning of 

the 2010-2011 school year and other staff were hired to fill his 

position. Similarly, McLain did not contact the district prior to the 

start of the 2011-2012 school year. From June 2010 (withdrawal of 

Mr. Gawley's representation) to November 2011, neither McLain 

nor any representative on his behalf participated in the initial step of 

selecting a hearing officer. From August 2010 to November 2011, 

the district heard nothing from McLain. Under these circumstances, 

McLain clearly waived the opportunity for an appeal hearing by 

neglecting the appeal process for more than a year. 

2. Respondent McLain should be estopped from asserting 
his right to an appeal hearing after failing to take required 
steps to pursue his appeal for more than a year. 

In addition to his obvious waiver of this opportunity, McLain 

should be estopped from now attempting to assert his right to a 

hearing for his 2010 non renewal. The doctrine of equitable estoppel 
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rests on the principle that "a party should be held to a 

representation made or position assumed where inequitable 

consequences would otherwise result to another party who has 

justifiably and in good faith relied thereon." Emrich v. Connell, 105 

Wn.2d 551, 559, 716 P.2d 863 (1986) (quoting Wilson v.

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