I. INTRODUCTION 

This is the Respondent's Opening Brief in opposition to 

the Appellant's appeal in this matter. 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Notwithstanding anything otherwise suggested by the 

Appellant, there was only one matter to be decided by the 

lower court Judge upon application for the appointment of a 

hearing office under RCW 28A.405.310. Wash.Rev.Code, 

28A.405.310. Specifically, the Presiding Judge was to appoint 

a hearing officer to serve in that capacity in accordance with 

RCW 28A.405. et. seq. CP 1. Any other substantive or 

procedural issues regarding the Appellant's effort to nonrenew 

Respondent's continuing contract were, (and are), to be 

presented to, and decided by, the hearing officer. 

This Court needs to know only a few simple facts in 

ruling upon this appeal. Those facts, not disputed, are as 

follows: (a) that the Appellant issued, what is known within 

this practice field, as a Notice of Probable Cause For 

Nonrenewal seeking to nonrenew Respondent's continuing 
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contract with the District; (b) that Respondent filed with the 

District a Notice of Appeal pursuant to his rights under RCW 

28A.405.300; (c) that the parties did not agree upon a hearing 

officer to serve in said capacity for this matter; and (d) upon 

application to the presiding judge in King County Superior 

Court, the court appointed a hearing officer who is qualified to 

serve. CP 2 - 13, CP 51. 

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

1. The Lower Court Did Not Err 

The lower court's authority began and ended with the 

appointment of a hearing officer, and that is exactly what the 

lower court did. The lower court did exactly what was required 

- appoint a person qualified to serve as a hearing officer for the 

litigation under RCW 28A.405.310 - that being retired Judge 

Terry Lukens. CP 51. There is no dispute he is qualified to 

serve in that capacity, even though the Appellant raises some 

vague notion, (unsupported by any authority), that a hearing 

officer under RCW 28A.405.310 is possibly less qualified to 

make a ruling upon the position taken by the Appellant here. 
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The lower court did not abuse its discretion in its 

appointment of a hearing officer. The lower court did not act 

contrary to the law. The lower court did precisely that which is 

required, and which is authorized, under laws applicable to 

this type of proceeding. 

It is the hearing officer under RCW 28A.405.310 who 

has the authority to decide all procedural and substantive 

issues that arise in the litigation, and here, the Appellant 

should have raised its "waiver" issue with the hearing officer. 

That hearing officer then has the ability to hear testimony, 

consider the evidence, consider the legal arguments and the 

law, and make a ruling. Wash. Rev. Code, 28A.405.310. 

Since it is the hearing officer who is charged making 

procedural and substantive rulings in the litigation, the lower 

court obviously did not err when it did exactly what the law 

requires - appoint a hearing officer. The issue raised by the 

Appellant is to be addressed in the context of the statutory 

hearing process under RCW 28A.405.310. That statute clearly 

delineates the power of the hearing officer to make evidentiary 
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rulings, to make rulings regarding discovery, to Issue 

subpoenas, and to make other appropriate rulings of law and 

procedure. Wash.Rev.Code, 28A.405.310(5), (6), (7). 

2. No Waiver. But If So. By The Appellant 

The Appellant's notion that Respondent "waived" his 

statutory right to a hearing is flawed, unsupported by the 

provisions of RCW 28A.405 et. seq., and contrary to 

Washington law. But if there has been any waiver, it has been 

by the Appellant, and the Appellant's Notice of Probable Cause 

For Nonrewal should be stricken, and thereafter Respondent to 

carry forward as a continuing contract teacher with the 

District. 

Under Washington law in order for the Appellant to 

nonrenew Respondent's contract the Appellant was required to 

provide notice to Respondent of the grounds for said adverse 

action. That notice, in education litigation parlance known as 

a Notice of Probable Cause, is akin in the civil arena to a 

complaint filed by a plaintiff to commence litigation. Upon 

receipt of the Notice of Probable Cause, Respondent availed 

himself of his statutory right to a full evidentiary hearing to 
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determine whether sufficient cause exists for the adverse 

action the District wants to pursue. CP 2 - 13. Again, in the 

context of education litigation, the Notice of Appeal filed by 

Respondent is akin in the civil arena to an answer a defendant 

would file with the court. Neither a school district's 

disciplinary action, nor a school district's effort to nonrenew a 

teacher's contract, becomes final until the educator has been 

afforded a full evidentiary hearing before the statutory hearing 

officer, and the hearing officer finds that the school district has 

proven by a preponderance of the evidence that sufficient cause 

exists for the adverse action. Since, by Washington law either 

the AppelJant or Respondent could have sought the 

appointment of a hearing officer, if there is a "waiver" to be had 

here or a "failure to prosecute", such waiver or failure to 

prosecute falls upon the Kent School District. 

The Respondent must be afforded a hearing. Had the 

Appellant wanted to move forward with the selection of a 

hearing officer it easily could have done so. CP 39 - 47. It did 

not need the Respondent's participation or cooperation no more 
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so than does a plaintiff need the participation or cooperation of 

a defendant to note a matter for trial. The Appellant simply 

needed to provide Respondent with notice that it was seeking 

the appointment of a hearing officer, and upon such a motion 

and notice, a hearing officer would have been appointed. 

The Appellant's notion that such responsibility fell solely 

on Respondent, is unsupported by the statutory scheme, RCW 

28A.405 et. seq. If the Appellant had done so, then a hearing 

officer would have been appointed, a hearing date set, and the 

Appellant - who carries the burden of proof in establishing 

sufficient cause to nonrenew Respondent's contract - would 

have presented whatever evidence it had. 

The Appellant's idea that Respondent had some "duty" 

to actively participate in the process is likewise not supported 

by the statutory scheme. Once Respondent filed his notice of 

appeal, effectively an answer to the Appellant's notice of 

probable cause, the Appellant was free to move forward with 

the selection of hearing officer - either by agreement of the 

parties, or in the absence of the same, by motion to the 
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superior court. This is much like the process for civil claims 

litigated under Washington law. The plaintiff files and serves 

the Complaint. If the defendant fails to appear or otherwise 

defend the litigation, then the plaintiff is free to seek a default 

and default judgment. Here, the Appellant issued the notice of 

probable cause, and Respondent filed his notice of appeal. CP 

2 - 13. The Appellant then did not prosecute its case even 

though, like a plaintiff in the civil arena, it had every ability 

and opportunity to do so. Now, the Appellant wants the Court 

of Appeals to impose some artificial deadline upon the 

appointment of hearing officer, which deadline cannot be found 

anywhere in the statutory scheme, and place the burden of 

seeking the appointment of a hearing officer upon the 

Respondent when RCW 28A.405.310 permits either Appellant 

or Respondent to do so. In essence, the Appellant asks this 

Court of Appeals to enact law. 

The Appellant's notion that Respondent "waived" his 

statutory right to a hearing is unsupported by the provisions of 

RCW 28A.405 et. seq., and contrary to Washington caselaw. 

7 



But if there has been any waiver, it has been by the Appellant, 

and the Appellant's Notice of Probable Cause For Nonrewal 

should be stricken, and thereafter Respondent to carry forward 

as a continuing contract teacher with the Appellant. 

The general equitable principles of waiver and estoppel, 

referenced by the Appellant are inapplicable in the context of 

the issue now before the Court of Appeals. The hearing process 

in this type of litigation is a creature of statute, and governed 

by statute - as noted, the provisions of RCW 28A.405. 

Examining the Appellant's "waiver" and "estoppel" arguments 

it is just as easy to say that the Appellant should be estopped 

from discharging the Respondent. It is just as easy to say that 

the Appellant waived its right to nonrenew Respondent's 

contract. The Appellant commenced this action. The burden of 

proof is on the Appellant to establish sufficient cause for such 

action. The Appellant had every opportunity to seek the 

appointment of a hearing officer, and did not do so) Once a 

The Appellant identifies a litany of "concerns" incident to 
delay - those issues run both ways, and still leaves appellant 
without an explanation as to why, in the absence of an agreement as 
to a hearing officer, appellant didn't do what is clearly available 
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hearing officer had been appointed, a hearing date would have 

been set, and the litigation would have proceeded as set forth 

under RCW 28A.405.310. Simply issuing a notice of probable 

cause to nonrenew the Respondent's continuing contract is not, 

(and was not), sufficient to terminate his employment once 

Respondent filed his notice of appeal. The Appellant needed, 

and needs, to do something further - it must present to a 

hearing officer evidence from which the hearing officer may 

conclude that sufficient cause exists to end Respondent's 

employment relationship with Appellant given the reasons 

stated in the notice. 

3. Purpose Of Continuing Contract Law 

Some background as to the continuing contract law In 

Washington is necessary In proceeding further here. The 

general purposes of both RCW 28A.405.300 and RCW 28A. 

405.210 can be expressed as follows: 

"(1) To implement "the sound public policy of 
retaining in the public school system competent 
and capable teachers and supervisory personnel 
who have become increasingly valued by reason of 

under the statute - apply for the appointment of one. Appellant can 
hardly be heard to complain now. 
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their experience. This works not only to the 
advantage of the employees but of the public and 
those concerned with the administration of the 
school system. AGO 55-57, No. 51, at p.2. 

(2) To protect employees of school districts from 
arbitrary dismissal. Hill v. Dayton School 
District, 10 Wn.App. 251, 517 P.2d 223 (1973), 
reversed on other grounds, 85 Wn.2d 204 (1975), 
citing Foster v. Carson School District, 63 W n.2d 
29,385, P.2d 367 (1963). 

(3) To eliminate uncertainty in the employment 
plans of both the teacher and the school district 
for the ensuing term . . . Robel v. Highline School 
District, 65 Wn.2d 477, at 483, 398 P.2d 1 (1965). 

(4) To create a form of civil service or merit 
system employment ... (a) teacher has achieved a 
legal equivalent of appointment by examination, 
for he or she cannot even be appointed to a 
teaching position without possessing the 
professional qualifications prescribed by law, and 
evidenced by "an effective teacher's certificate or 
other certificate required by law of the State 
Board of Education." RCW 28A.67.070. Rightful 
possession or entitlement to such a certificate 
makes one a "certificated employee." These 
provisions alone should constitute at least the 
legal equivalent of a civil or merit system 
certificate of standing in the examinations. 
Secondly the school board, in employing teachers, 
must take only those who possess the requisite 
professional qualifications evidenced by a state 
certificate. RCW 28A.67.070. The board is not a 
freely negotiating employer; its contract with the 
teachers must conform to the laws of the state." 
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Justice Hale dissenting in Pierce v. Lake 
Washington School District, 84 Wn.2d 772 at 790 
(1974). 

The provisions of RCW 28A.405 define the mInImUm 

rights applicable to certificated employees in the State of 

Washington. These statutes include RCW 28A.405.310, RCW 

28A.405.300, RCW 28A.405.100, and RCW 28A.405.210. RCW 

28A.405.210 IS known as the nonrenewal statute; RCW 

28A.405.300 IS known as the discharge statute; RCW 

28A.405.100 is known as the evaluation and probation statute; 

and RCW 28A.405.310 gives the statutorily appointed hearing 

officer certain rights and authority. Combined, RCW 

28A.405.210 and RCW 28A.405.300 constitute the "continuing 

law contract." Under these discharge and nonrenewal statutes, 

RCW 28A.405.300 and RCW 28A.405.210, and under common 

law prior to their enactment, the burden is/was on the school 

district to "establish by a preponderance of the evidence" that 

there is "sufficient cause or causes" for discharge. 

In order to hold a Washington State certificated 

employee certificated, each applicant for a certificate must 
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meet certain requirements which have been established either 

by statute or by the Superintendent of Public Instruction for 

the State of Washington. And a school board must employ 

certificated personnel under a written contract. RCW 

28A.405.210 (1) and (2). The employment contract can be for a 

term of not more than one year (it may be for less), and during 

that year the employee may be "discharged" or nonrenewed 

only for "sufficient cause or causes", RCW 28A.400.300(1), 

RCW 28A.405.300 and RCW 28A.405.210. Under these 

discharged and nonrenewal statutes, RCW 28A.405.300 and 

RCW 28A.405.210, and under common law prior to their 

enactment, the burden is/was on the school district to 

"establish by a preponderance of the evidence" that there is 

"sufficient cause or causes" for discharge. 

Prior to 1943, a school district had no obligation to a 

certificate employee at the end of the one-year period; the 

contract was simply terminated according to its terms. Seattle 

High School Chapter 200 v. Sharples, 159 Wn. 424, 293 P. 994 

(1930). In 1943, the Washington State Legislature passed the 
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predecessor to RCW 28A.405.210. The law then provided as 

follows: 

"Every teacher, principal, supervisor or superintendent 
holding a position s such with a school district, whose 
employment contract is not to be renewed by the district 
for the next ensuing term, shall be notified in writing on 
or before April 15 preceding the commencement of such 
term of the decision of the board of directors not to 
renew his or her employment and the reason or reasons 
therefore, and if such notification is not timely given by 
the district, the teacher, principal, supervisor or 
superintendent entitled thereto shall be conclusively 
presumed to have been reemployed by the district for the 
next ensuing term upon contractual terms identical to 
those which would have prevailed if his or her employment 
had actually been renewed by the board of directors for such 
ensuing term . . .." Chapter 52, Sec. 1, pp. 95-96, Laws of 
1943. 

In short, the employee's one year contract was "renewed" 

or "continued" for the next year, unless the district: (1) Gave 

written notice by April 15, and (2) Stated the reason or reasons 

in the notice. In 1955, the Legislature amended the continuing 

contract law by adding to these requirements that a school 

district could "nonrenew" an employee's contract only if the 

district: (1) Had "sufficient cause or causes" for nonrenewal; (2) 

Gave the employee an opportunity for a hearing before the 

school board; and (3) "Proved and established at the hearing" 
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the cause or causes to be sufficient. If the district failed to 

meet these requirements, the employee's contract was 

continued. Chapter 68, Sec. 415, Laws of 1955. 

In 1969, the Legislature again amended the law 

providing for an optional direct appeal to superior court for all 

nonrenewals, i.e. for cause or economic reasons. That was 

subsequently changed by Laws of the 2nd Ex. Sess., 1975-76, 

Chapter 114, Sec.2, whereby the hearing officer procedure was 

first instituted, but preservmg the sufficient cause 

requirement, hearing opportunity and preponderance of 

evidence tests and standard. This change was codified in RCW 

28A.405.310, and was subsequently amended again in Laws of 

1 st Ex. Sess., 1977, Chapter 7, Sec. 2, whereby the decision of 

the hearing officer was final subject to subsequent appeal to 

the superior court. 

In summary, RCW 28A.405.210 has a history spanning 

close to 50 years, the notice provisions for 50 years and the 

hearing provisions for fewer years. The discharge statute RCW 

28A.405.300, has a shorter history, having first been enacted in 
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1961, Chapter 241, Sec. 2. The appeal procedure as codified in 

RCW 28A.405.310 is the same for both nonrenewal, pursuant 

to RCW 28A.405.210 (for cause), and discharge, pursuant to 

RCW 28A.405.300. 

4. Written Notice Specifying the Cause or Causes 

A school district's "cause or causes for nonrenewal or 

discharge" are those factors which "cause" the district to seek 

to terminate the employment of a person. Both RCW 

28A.405.210 and RCW 28A.405.300 require a district to specify 

in writing its causes or reasons for nonrenewal or other 

adverse action (ie, discharge). 

5. The Hearing Procedure

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